
 
 
 
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk 
Direct line: 01403 215465 
 

 

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   Horsham.gov.uk   Chief Executive – Glen Chipp 

 
 

Corporate & Democratic Services 

www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Monday, 19th July, 2021 at 5.30 pm 

Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham 

 
 
Councillors: Tony Bevis (Chairman) 

Brian Donnelly (Vice-Chairman) 
 Matthew Allen 

Martin Boffey 
Jonathan Chowen 
Billy Greening 
Frances Haigh 
Nigel Jupp 
Tim Lloyd 
 

Bob Platt 
Josh Potts 
Jack Saheid 
Jim Sanson 
Ian Stannard 
James Wright 
 

 
You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business 

 
Glen Chipp 

Chief Executive 

Agenda 
 

   
Page No. 

1.   Apologies for absence  

2.   Minutes  

 To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July (To Follow) 
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they 
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24 
hours before the meeting.  Where applicable, the audio recording of the 
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.) 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Members' Interests  

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee 
 

 

4.   Announcements  

 To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the 
Chief Executive 
 

 

5.   Urban Greening Task & Finish Group  

 To agree the Membership of the Urban Greening Task & Finish Group 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk


 
 

6.   Work Programme  

 To discuss any topics that could be added to the Work Programme 
 

 

7.   Rookwood Stage 1 Complaint 3 - 6 

 To note the letter and response to a Stage 1 Complaint regarding Rookwood 
 

 

8.   Cabinet Forward Plan 7 - 16 

 To receive and note the Cabinet Forward Plan 
 

 

9.   The Drill Hall and Highwood Briefing  

 To receive a briefing by the Director of Community Services 
 

 

10.   Urgent Business  

 Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion 
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances 
 

 

 



 

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1RL             DX57609, Horsham 6  
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   horsham.gov.uk     Chief Executive – Glen Chipp                     Page 1 of 4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
Sent by email to :  

 
  

 
  

Our ref:  COM2461350  

Your ref:  

Email:Sharon.Evans@horsham.gov.uk  

Direct Line: 01403 215538  

Date: 29/06/2021  

 
 

Dear Sir / Madam  
 
Re: Complaint regarding Rookwoood Golf Course and Local Plan Process 

I am responding to your letter not only as the Head of Legal but also as the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
Part of my role as the Monitoring Officer is to advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are made in 
accordance with the budget and policy framework. 
 
I have taken the bullet points of your complaint separately and replied below shown in blue for each one. 
 
‘We contend that the Horsham District Council Cabinet has violated the Council’s constitution in 
regard to its handling of the Council’s Rookwood Golf Course asset. The violations we allege are 
that the Cabinet: 
 
• Has committed a total of over £308k from “Place Directorate” budgets for the single 

purpose of “preparing and supporting the Council’s Rookwood asset as a strategic site in 
the Local Plan process”, without first raising a Key Decision’. 

 
 
Your main basis of complaint is that you contend that the Council has acted outside of its Constitution by 
not bringing a Key Decision to Cabinet with regard to expenditure for viability of Rookwood Golf Course 
and its inclusion within the Local Plan. 
 
You have taken the time to examine and document the Key Decision definition found within our 
Constitution in article 11 which states. 
 
A “key decision” means a Cabinet decision which is likely: 
 

a) To involve expenditure or savings of £250,000 or more as well as otherwise being significant 
having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates;  
 
Or 
 

b) To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two 
or more wards in the district. 

 
 
Various sites were put forward at the initial stages of the Local Plan process.  All of which needed differing 
amount of assessment for viability.  Sites at any stage of the Local Plan process can be discounted and 
assessment aborted and any stage. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1RL             DX57609, Horsham 6  
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   horsham.gov.uk     Chief Executive – Glen Chipp                     Page 2 of 4 

 

The Council’s budget is set annually and so the Key Decision threshold is applied to the projected annual 
expenditure against the set budget.   I have taken the time to go through the expenditure figures and for the 
period late 2016 to end of 2019 the Council has incurred expenditure in the region of £159k.   
A further 178K was spent from early 2020 to the present date for the provision of further and additional 
technical information necessary to ascertain whether the scheme is sustainable, viable and deliverable in 
planning terms.  
 
I can confirm that none of the separate amounts spent or when added together collectively went above the 
Key Decision threshold in a given year, and all were made under officer delegation and taken from the 
authorised relevant budgets.  The budget for the preparation of the Local Plan has been continually set and 
reviewed annually as part of the Council’s budget setting process.   
 
It is unlikely to be a good use of Council resources simply if the undertaking of research and preparation to 
assess feasibility could be considered a Key Decision. It is not until the research and investigation has 
taken place, and therefore armed with all the facts and details, that a decision is ready for consideration. 
 
The work undertaken by officers in recommending sites for inclusion or otherwise in the Local Plan has 
been based on an assessment of whether sites are suitable, available and deliverable during the plan 
period.  The purpose of this work, together with the preparation of the supporting evidence base is to 
enable Council officers to recommend a Local Plan to the Council that is considered to be ‘sound’ based on 
the provisions set out in the NPPF. 
 
The content and inclusion of sites within the Local Plan will ‘be significant in terms of its effects on 
communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the district’.  It is for this purpose 
that the consultation process is prescribed by law. 
 
The Regulation 18 document has been through consultation and included an assessment of Rookwood 
based on 900-1000 homes – the original scheme. The Regulation 18 document made no specific 
recommendations for inclusion of this site or any other.    
 
 
The Cabinet decision is yet to be taken to get agreement to publish the Regulation 19 document.  It is this 
officer draft document which may include the latest proposals for Rookwood as a recommendation for 
allocation. Planning Officers are finalising the evidence base and it is this draft document that Cabinet 
Members will need to make a decision on. 
 
 
 
• ‘Did not register a Key Decision before including the Council’s Rookwood asset as a 

Strategic Site in the Regulation 18 2020 Local Plan consultation’. 
 
Answer as above, and to reiterate, the Regulation 18 document made no specific recommendations for 
inclusion of this site or any other.    
 
 
 
• ‘Is proposing to financially mismanage a Council asset by disposing of it without securing 

full value for the taxpayer’. 
 
Advice was sought as to whether the Local Authority would satisfy the requirements of obtaining “the best 
price reasonably obtainable in the market”, pursuant to section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, if 
the land being disposed of is subject to a live overage clause, in favour of a predecessor, and which 
requires that 50% of the consideration received upon disposal of the subject land be paid to that 
predecessor. Or, whether the local authority should wait until the overage provisions fall away? 
 
A local authority would not have to wait until the clawback period has expired and their duties under section 
123 of the Act are limited to the best value that can be obtained at the time of the disposal. Section 123 of 
the Act grants local authorities’ powers to dispose of land held by them in any manner they wish. 
 
Accordingly, it is legitimate for the Council to proceed with a disposal of the property so long as best value 
is obtained at the time of the disposal. The clawback clauses are not a material consideration when making 
a decision under S123 of Local Government Act. 

Page 4



 
 

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1RL             DX57609, Horsham 6  
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   horsham.gov.uk     Chief Executive – Glen Chipp                     Page 3 of 4 

 

 
There is also some legal ambiguity as to whether the clawback will lapse in 40 years’ time and 
consideration has to be given to the fact that a cash receipt now would generate interest for 40 years and 
so is arguably worth more than a cash receipt that has an uncertain possibility of being nominally higher. 
 
 
• ‘Has compromised the Strategic Planning team and process by failing to provide, as 

developer, clear evidence that Rookwood is “deliverable” in the Local Plan period as 
defined in the NPPF’. 

 

The Council is following a robust and lawful process with regard to dealing with the proposal at Rookwood 

as both the Landowner and planning authority.  

 
 
• ‘Inappropriately stifled Councillor debate contrary to a requirement of the Localism Act 

2011’. 
 
As the Monitoring Officer I am responsible for Member training with regard to their conduct.  Members have 
been reminded throughout the Local Plan preparatory process they need to avoid any appearance of bias 
or having ‘predetermined’ their views when making a decision on planning policy. Clearly expressing an 
intention to vote in a particular way before the decision-making meeting (predetermination) is indicative of a 
‘closed mind’ approach and this may leave them open to a conduct complaint and the Council open to 
challenge. 
 
The debate on the decision about which sites are to be allocated has not yet taken place, as already 
mentioned, as the recommended regulation 19 plan is not due to come to Cabinet and then Full Council 
until next month.  However, the Council has followed a robust and open process at every stage of the Local 
Plan Review process and that is a matter of public record.  
 
In addition, Councillors have had numerous briefings and have been given the opportunity to test officer 
advice by posing questions to leading planning QC’s and planning experts from the Planning Advisory 
Service in order to inform their debate at Council in due course. It is incorrect to suggest that debate has 
been stifled. 
 
 
• ‘Failed to act openly and to consult in a timely manner’. 
 
 
Horsham District Council’s Local plan has be positively prepared, justified, and is effective and consistent 
with national policy in accordance with section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 and the National Planning Policy Framework.   All planning Laws and 
Regulations have been followed to date and will continue to be. 
 
Cabinet made the decision for the Horsham District Local Plan Regulation 18 Consultation Document to 
published for a six-week consultation between 17 February 2020 and 30 March 2020. 
 
A further Cabinet and Full Council decision will be made shortly in July to enable the Council to carry out its 
final public consultation on the plan before it is submitted for examination, under Regulation 19 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
 
Your letter has been considered under Stage 1 of the Council’s complaint process; full details of which can 
be found on the Council’s website at https://www.horsham.gov.uk/contact/comments-and-complaints.  
 
I trust that the above clarifies the position of the Local Planning Authority and am sorry that you have had 
cause to complain.  If you remain dissatisfied with the response you may refer your complaint to Mr Glen 
Chipp, Chief Executive who will review your complaint and respond to you within 20 working days.  If it is 
not possible to meet this deadline we will contact you and explain why. 
 

Page 5



 
 

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1RL             DX57609, Horsham 6  
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   horsham.gov.uk     Chief Executive – Glen Chipp                     Page 4 of 4 

 

 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 

 

Sharon Evans 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Monitoring Officer. 

 

Telephone: 01403 215538    

Email: Sharon.Evans@horsham.gov.uk 

 

Page 6



 

   Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, 
West Sussex  RH12 1RL 

 

 

FORWARD PLAN 

 
This notice sets out details of key decisions that the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member intend to make, and gives 28 days’ notice of the decision under the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  The notice also includes details of 
other decisions the Council intends to make. 
 
The reports and any background documents that have been used to inform the decisions will be available on the Council’s website 
(www.horsham.gov.uk) or by contacting Committee Services at the Council Offices. 
  
Whilst the majority of the Council’s business will be open to the public, there will be occasions when the business to be considered contains 
confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.  This is formal notice under the 2012 Regulations that part or all of the reports on the 
decisions referred to in the schedule may be private because they contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.  
 
If you wish to make representations about why part or all of the papers should be open to the public, please contact Committee Services at least 10 
working days before the date on which the decision is to be taken. 
 
If you wish to make representations to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member about the proposed decisions, please contact Committee Services to make your 
request. 
 
Please note that the decision date given in this notice may be subject to change. 
 
To contact Committee Services: 
E-mail: :  committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk 
Tel: 01403 215123      Published on 01 July 2021 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.horsham.gov.uk/
mailto:committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk


 
 
What is a Key Decision? 
 

A key decision is an executive decision which, is likely –  
 
(i) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s 
budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or  
 
(ii) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the District. 
 
 
 

P
age 8



 

 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 
decision 

Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

1.   Horsham District Council Local 
Development Scheme 
 

Cabinet 
 

15 Jul 2021 Open 
 

Catherine Howe, Head of Strategic Planning 
catherine.howe@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

2.   Horsham District Local Plan 
regulation 19 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

15 Jul 2021 
 
28 Jul 2021 

Open 
 

Catherine Howe, Head of Strategic Planning 
catherine.howe@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

3.   Housing Strategy 2021 - 25 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

22 Jul 2021 
 
1 Sep 2021 

Open 
 

Rob Jarvis, Head of Housing & Community 
Services    robert.jarvis@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Public 
Protection (Councillor Tricia Youtan) 
 

4.   Sustainable Procurement Charter 
 

Cabinet 
 

22 Jul 2021 Open 
 

Adam Chalmers, Director of Community 
Services    adam.chalmers@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Waste, 
Recycling & Cleansing (Councillor Philip 
Circus) 
 

P
age 9



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

5.   Electric Vehicle Charge Point 
Contract 
 

Cabinet 
 

22 Jul 2021 Open 
 

Adam Chalmers, Director of Community 
Services    adam.chalmers@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Waste, 
Recycling & Cleansing (Councillor Philip 
Circus) 
 

6.   Museum Opening Hours 
 

Cabinet 
 

22 Jul 2021 Open 
 

Vicky Wise, Head of Leisure and Culture 
Vicky.Wise@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

7.   Gatwick Airport DCO - Governance 
Arrangements 
 

Cabinet 
 

22 Jul 2021 Open 
 

Catherine Howe, Head of Strategic Planning 
catherine.howe@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

8.   Trade Waste tender bid 
 

Cabinet 
 

22 Jul 2021 Part exempt 
 

Adam Chalmers, Director of Community 
Services    adam.chalmers@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Waste, 
Recycling & Cleansing (Councillor Philip 
Circus) 
 

P
age 10



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

9.   Annual update to the Pay Policy 
Statement - Financial Year 2021/22 
 

Council 
 

1 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Robert Laban, Head of HR & OD 
robert.laban@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

10.   Taxi Licensing Policy Review 
 

Council 
 

1 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Marc Rankin, Head of Environmental Health 
& Licensing    marc.rankin@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Public 
Protection (Councillor Tricia Youtan) 
 

11.   Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

Cabinet 
 

23 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance & 
Performance 
dominic.bradley@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

12.   Contract variation for the Revenues 
and Benefits computer system 
 

Cabinet 
 

23 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources 
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

P
age 11



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

13.   New CIL Enforcement Policy 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

23 Sep 2021 
 
13 Oct 2021 

Open 
 

Emma Parkes, Head of Development & 
Building Control 
emma.parkes@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

14.   Local Enforcement Plan 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

23 Sep 2021 
 
13 Oct 2021 

Open 
 

Emma Parkes, Head of Development & 
Building Control 
emma.parkes@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

15.   Conservation Area Appraisals for:  
Richmond Road, Horsham;  
London Road, Horsham; and 
Horsham Town Centre 
 

Cabinet 
 

23 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Catherine Howe, Head of Strategic Planning 
catherine.howe@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development 
(Councillor Lynn Lambert) 
 

16.   Drill Hall 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

23 Sep 2021 
 
13 Oct 2021 

Open 
 

Adam Chalmers, Director of Community 
Services    adam.chalmers@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

P
age 12



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

17.   Highwood Community Centre 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

23 Sep 2021 
 
13 Oct 2021 

Open 
 

Adam Chalmers, Director of Community 
Services    adam.chalmers@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

18.   Athletics Track - future options 
 

Cabinet 
 

23 Sep 2021 Open 
 

Vicky Wise, Head of Leisure and Culture 
Vicky.Wise@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

19.   Grounds Maintenance Contract 
Award 
 

Cabinet 
 

23 Sep 2021 Part exempt 
 

Vicky Wise, Head of Leisure and Culture 
Vicky.Wise@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

20.   Medium Term Financial Strategy 
update 
 

Cabinet 
 

25 Nov 2021 Open 
 

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance & 
Performance 
dominic.bradley@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

P
age 13



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

21.   Arboriculture Contract Award 
 

Cabinet 
 

25 Nov 2021 Part exempt 
 

Vicky Wise, Head of Leisure and Culture 
Vicky.Wise@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture 
(Councillor Roger Noel) 
 

22.   Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

27 Jan 2022 
 
9 Feb 2022 

Open 
 

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance & 
Performance 
dominic.bradley@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

23.   Business Rates Discretionary 
Charitable Relief 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

27 Jan 2022 
 
9 Feb 2022 

Open 
 

Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources 
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

24.   Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Plan 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

27 Jan 2022 
 
9 Feb 2022 

Open 
 

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance & 
Performance 
dominic.bradley@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

P
age 14



 
 Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 

decision 
Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private 

Contact Officer 
 

Cabinet Member 
(NB include name, title and email address) 

 

25.   Council Tax Resolution 
 

Council 
 

9 Feb 2022 Open 
 

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance & 
Performance 
dominic.bradley@horsham.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets 
(Councillor Richard Landeryou) 
 

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Rookwood Stage 1 Complaint
	8 Cabinet Forward Plan



